UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

ORDER GRANTING REQUEST OF FEDERAL General Order 21-8
DEFENDER SERVICES OF WISCONSIN, INC.

TO RESCIND PORTION OF CJA PLAN AND ALLOW

RELOCATION OF OFFICES

The Criminal Justice Act plan for the Eastern District of Wisconsin
provides that the offices and staff of Federal Defender Services of Wisconsin,
Inc. “shall be located and housed at the United States Courthouse and Federal
Building at 517 East Wisconsin Avenue . . . unless otherwise ordered by the
court.”

On March 12, 2021, Federal Defender Craig W. Albee, on behalf of
Federal Defender Services of Wisconsin, Inc., submitted to the judges a written
request that the court rescind that portion of the CJA Plan and allow FDS to
relocate outside the courthouse. Attorney Albee explained that FDS has
outgrown its courthouse space, that its presence in the courthouse is contrary
to Judicial Conference policy and sometimes leads clients to question the
agency’s independence from judiciary and law enforcement agencies also
housed in the courthouse. Attorney Albee also anticipated being able to find
more office space at a lower cost, and to find it within a few blocks of the
courthouse, as well as maintaining a small space inside the courthouse to
accommodate the need for private meetings before or after court hearings.

The judges took up this request at their March 18, 2021 judges’ meeting

and unanimously approved it.



The court GRANTS the request of Federal Defender Services of
Wisconsin, Inc. to rescind that portion of the CJA plan that requires Federal
Defender Services of Wisconsin, Inc. to be housed in U.S. Courthouse and
Federal Building at 517 East Wisconsin Avenue.

The court ORDERS that Federal Defender Services of Wisconsin, Inc.
may relocate its offices and staff outside the U.S. Courthouse and Federal
Building at 517 East Wisconsin Avenue.

Dated in Milwaukee, Wisconsin this 21st day of April, 2021.

BY THE COURT:

i

HON. PAMELA PEPPER
Chief United States District Judge
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March 12, 2021

Honorable Pamela Pepper

Chief Judge, United States District Court
517 E. Wisconsin Avenue

Milwaukee, WI 53202

Dear Chief Judge Pepper,

On behalf of Federal Defender Services of Wisconsin, Inc., I am writing to request an
order from the Eastern District judges allowing FDSW to relocate from the courthouse.
The CJA plan provides that our offices and staff “shall be located and housed in the
United States Courthouse and Federal Building at 517 East Wisconsin Avenue . . . unless
otherwise ordered by the court.” We are requesting an order rescinding that requirement
for a number of reasons, including that we have outgrown our space, our presence in the
courthouse is contrary to Judicial Conference policy, and our concern that clients perceive
that we are not independent from the courts and law enforcement agencies that also are
housed within the courthouse. We plan to obtain office space within two or three blocks
of the courthouse.

While our Eastern District office has been in the courthouse since we opened, our Western
District office has always been located outside the courthouse. Likewise, our Green Bay
office is not in the courthouse. My understanding from speaking with advisors from
Defender Services in Washington is that we are the only Community Defender
Organization that has a main office located in a courthouse.

Milwaukee - Madison - Green Bay
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Not only is it a unique situation for a community defender organization’s office to be in
the courthouse, it is also contrary to Judicial Conference policy. As reflected in the
attached letter from Stephen Macartney, the Chief of DSO’s Program Operations
Division, Judicial Conference policy is that federal defenders’ staffed offices should be
located outside the courthouse. Specifically, the policy provides that the office must be
located outside the courthouse or other federal facility housing a law enforcement agency
unless the federal defender determines that it’s in the organization’s interests and that it
would not compromise the organization’s mission. In addition, when DSO has assessed
our office in the past, we have been urged to relocate outside the courthouse.

Beyond the above, we have an immediate need for more space as we do not have separate
offices for interns, for our paralegal, our investigator, or for a new lawyer who is starting
this summer. And we only have one conference room to accommodate all our lawyers,
panel lawyers who need space before court, and the interns and others who lack
dedicated space. We also have a need for a larger server room for our computer
equipment as the current space is inadequate. Thus, the need for extra office space is
critical.

In addition, while it’s certainly convenient for our office (or any federal defender office)
to be in the courthouse, it’s not conducive to building trust with our clients. An obvious
concern underlying the Judicial Conference policy is that a courthouse location
undermines client confidence in a defender office and creates the perception that the
office is aligned with law enforcement or the courts. These concerns are heightened by
clients having to pass through metal detectors and a security team to meet with their
lawyer. We also have had security officers walk through our offices in response to
courthouse security situations or off-hours for security reasons. While we understand the
need for those security checks, it’s very unsettling to clients, not to mention concerns
about confidential material in our office. The courthouse location also makes night and
weekend visits more burdensome and exposes our activities (such as meeting with
prospective witnesses) to greater scrutiny from other occupants of the courthouse when
privacy may be important. In sum, we do believe that the courthouse location
compromises our mission and creates the perception, albeit unwarranted, that we are not
an independent organization.

We also anticipate that we will be able to obtain more office space than we have currently
at a lower cost. We currently pay for 8,738 square feet of space, but only 5,319 square feet
of that space is usable. In addition, we recently incurred a dramatic rent increase (from
about $13,500 to over $16,000) without advance notice, which is problematic for an
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organization that relies on a grant that didn’t take that rent increase into account. I should
note that we would intend to have a small office located within the courthouse to
accommodate the need for private meetings during trial and before or after court
appearances.

Thank you for considering our proposal. I would be happy to answer any questions or
concerns the court may have.

Sincerely,

/s/ Craig W. Albee
Craig W. Albee

CWA/jmb
c Honorable J.P. Stadtmueller
Honorable Lynn Adelman

Honorable William C. Griesbach
Honorable Brett H. Ludwig
Honorable Nancy Joseph
Honorable William E. Duffin
Honorable Stephen C. Dries
Honorable James R. Sickel
Honorable William E. Callahan, Jr.
Honorable Aaron E. Goodstein
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February 26, 2021

Craig Albee

Executive Director/Federal Defender

Federal Defender Services of
Wisconsin, Inc.

United States Courthouse

517 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 182

Milwaukee, WI 53202

Dear Craig:

Thank you for your recent inquiry to our office related to restrictions on colocation
of federal defender offices in buildings which house other federal agencies. Current
Judicial Conference policy indicates that "federal defenders' staffed offices should be
located within reasonable walking distance of the courthouse; must be located outside the
courthouse or other federal facility housing law enforcement agencies unless the federal
defender determines that being in such buildings would not compromise the
organization's mission; and if within such buildings, must be, at a minimum, on a
different floor from the law enforcement agencies" (JCUS-SEP 03, p. 38).

In other words, federal defender offices are expected to be located outside the
courthouse, unless you, the federal defender of the district, approve the location based on
a specific determination that being in the courthouse does not compromise your mission.
Please feel free to contact Lisa Guffey from our Program Operations Division at 202-
821-9278, with any questions.

Sincerely,

Stephen Macartney
Chief, Program Operations Division
Defender Services Office

A TRADITION OF SERVICE TO THE FEDERAL JUDICIARY



Stephen Macartney
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